## Eastern Michigan University DigitalCommons@EMU

Master's Theses and Doctoral Dissertations

Master's Theses, and Doctoral Dissertations, and Graduate Capstone Projects

7-20-2007

# Methyl esterification of fatty acids and eicosanoids with a novel reagent trimethylsilyldiazomethane for analysis by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry

Aditi Munmun Sengupta

Follow this and additional works at: http://commons.emich.edu/theses
Part of the <u>Chemistry Commons</u>

#### **Recommended** Citation

Sengupta, Aditi Munmun, "Methyl esterification of fatty acids and eicosanoids with a novel reagent trimethylsilyldiazomethane for analysis by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry" (2007). *Master's Theses and Doctoral Dissertations*. 522. http://commons.emich.edu/theses/522

This Open Access Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Master's Theses, and Doctoral Dissertations, and Graduate Capstone Projects at DigitalCommons@EMU. It has been accepted for inclusion in Master's Theses and Doctoral Dissertations by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@EMU. For more information, please contact lib-ir@emich.edu.

# Methyl Esterification of Fatty Acids and Eicosanoids With a Novel Reagent Trimethylsilyldiazomethane for Analysis by Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry

By

Aditi Munmun Sengupta

Thesis

Submitted to the Department of Chemistry

Eastern Michigan University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of

#### MASTER OF SCIENCE

in

Chemistry

Thesis Committee

Steven J. Pernecky, PhD, chair

Ruth Ann Armitage, PhD

George Liepa, PhD, FACN

July 2007

Ypsilanti, MI

Methyl Esterification of Fatty Acids and Eicosanoids with a Novel Reagent Trimethylsilyldiazomethane for Analysis by Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry

Aditi Munmun Sengupta

APPROVAL:

Steven Pernecky, PhD U Thesis Chair

Ruth Ann Armitage, PhD Committee member

George Liepa, PhD, FACN Committee member

Ross Nord, PhD Department Head

Deb deLask by-Smith, PhD Interim Dean of the Graduate School

July 20, 2007 Date

20 Jul Date

20 Aug 2007 Date

23,2007 nly Date

tember 13,2007 Date

ii

## DEDICATION

To my grandparents

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I owe my thanks to Professor Steven J. Pernecky, for his support and encouragement and for creating a good environment to carry out research in the laboratory. His guidance, insightful discussions, and critical commentary of the thesis helped in my understanding and pursuing of the degree. My deepest gratitude is directed to Dr. George Liepa for unwavering support and skillful guidance and to Dr. Ruth Ann Armitage for advice, critiques, and encouragement whenever needed. I would like to thank both of them for helping me to complete my thesis.

I wish to acknowledge Dr. Hemendra N. Basu for providing me with guidance and helpful commentaries about the techniques used in the experimental procedures. I want to convey my sincerest gratitude to Dr. Krishnaswamy Rengan, our graduate Coordinator for his timely advice and guidance. I also want to acknowledge Dr. Maria Milletti, our former interim Head of the Department for her full-hearted support in the project.

Special Thanks to: Dept. of Chemistry, Eastern Michigan University Graduate School, Eastern Michigan University Dr. Ross Nord Dr. Ross Nord Dr. Steven J. Pernecky & group Dr. Ruth Ann Armitage & Group Dr. Lindsay Harriet and Group Dr. Deborah Heyl-Clegg and Group Dr. Hedeel Evans and Group Dr. Hedeel Evans and Group Dr. Timothy Brewer and group Dr. Daniel Clemans and Group Dr. Wade Tornquist Dr. Satya Priya Sarkar (Tufts University) Dr. Richard G. Griskey (American Chemical Society) Wan Lim & Beth Quintus

Support for this work was provided by the Graduate Research Support Fund and by Other

Research Opportunities Program at the Eastern Michigan University.

#### ABSTRACT

Fatty acids are compounds with limited water solubility that belong to the lipid class of bio-organic compounds and can be utilized as a source of energy by the body or as precursors to oxidized compounds that have roles in inflammation and in the regulation of vascular tone. The prostaglandins are naturally occurring 20-carbon cyclopentano fatty acid derivatives produced in mammalian tissue from polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) and are generated from endoperoxide precursors of arachidonic acid and related polyunsaturated fatty acids by the enzyme cyclo-oxygenase (COX). The lipoxygenase (LOX) enzymes convert arachidonic acid into hydroperoxy derivatives of PUFAs termed leukotrienes, which play a role in asthma and allergies. The reagent trimethyl silvl diazomethane (TMSD) which is less toxic and explosive than other reagents such as diazomethane, has been developed for use in the methyl esterification of drugs such as penicillin and some fatty acids. The objectives of the research were to (1) optimize the TMSD reaction conditions, (2) determine whether the TMSD reaction could support methylation of prostaglandins and other oxidized products of arachidonic acid, such as prostaglanding PGE<sub>2</sub> and PGF<sub>2 $\alpha$ </sub>, (3) develop calibration curves for the fatty acids and prostaglandins with appropriate internal standards for use with GC-MS, and (4) determine whether this method could be used to characterize by GC-MS these lipids in cell culture and in other cell-free systems, such as those containing enzymes like COX.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

APPROVALii
DEDICATION iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS iv
ABSTRACTv
TABLE OF CONTENTS
LIST OF TABLES viii
LIST OF FIGURES ix
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS
1. Polyunsaturated fattyacids1
2. Structural characterization of PUFAs1
3. Sources of PUFAs
4. Metabolism of PUFA4
5. Biological and functional effects of PUFA7
6. Eicosanoid metabolism8
7. Analysis of fatty acids and prostaglandins by gas chromatography10
<b>OBJECTIVES OF THE RESEARCH PROJECT</b> 16
EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES17
1. Fatty acid preparation17
<ol> <li>Preparation and optimization of the solvent system used in methyl esterification with TMSD</li></ol>

3. Preparation and standardization of the methylating agent	
4. Conversion of polyunsaturated fatty acids and phospholipids to their methyl esters by TMSD.	18
5. Methyl esterification of fatty acids contained in phospholipids and egg	19
6. Preparation of the stock solution of prostaglandins	20
7. Methyl esterification of prostaglandins by TMSD	21
8. Analysis of prostaglandins by methyl esterification in a cell-free system	22
9. Prostaglandin formation in the cyclooxygenase-1 reaction	22
10. Gas chromatography and mass spectrometry conditions	23
RESULTS	27
1. Methylation of Fatty Acids/Optimization of the Methylation reaction for	
TMSD	27
2. Chromatograms and mass spectra of some fatty acid methyl esters	32
3 Calibration curves for selected polyunsaturated fatty acids	
4. Characterization of chromatography and mass spectra of prostaglandins, PGE2 and	
PGF2 <sub>α</sub>	42
5. Attempts to characterize fatty acids in phospholipids, egg white, and fish oil	48
6. Attempts to identify prostaglandins in media containing cultured cells	52
7 Attempts to identify prostaglandins in reactions of cyclooxygenase-1 with	
Arachidonic acid	54
DISCUSSION	
REFERENCES	61

#### LIST OF TABLES

#### **Tables** Pages 1. Molecular weight and stock concentrations of fatty acids used for the experiments......17 2. Gas chromatography conditions of fatty acid methyl esters (CI mode......25 3. Gas chromatography conditions of fatty acid methyl esters (EI mode)......25 4. Gas chromatography conditions for prostaglandin methyl esters (CI mode) ......26 5. 6. Gas chromatography conditions for prostaglandin methyl esters (EI mode) ......26 7. 8. The extent of conversion of fatty acids in the TMSD reaction to itsmethylester...... 31

## LIST OF FIGURES

<b>Figures</b>	Pages
1. Structu	ral formula of saturated, monosaturated, and polyunsaturated fatty acids2
2.	Purslane flower and canola flower
3.	Safflower plant
4.	Metabolic pathways for formation of AA, DHA and EPA from the precursors LN and
	LNA5
5.	Enzymatic mechanism for the synthesis of DHA-containing phospholipids with
	phosphatidyl choline6
6.	PUFA oxidation metabolic route9
7.	Preparation of methyl ester of fatty acids12
8.	Reaction mechanism for formation of fatty acid methyl esters with TMSD14
9.	Calibration curves for fatty acid methyl estersof TMSD and Diazomethane14
10.	Calibration curve for methyl ester formation with TMSD using benzene as
	the solvent27
11.	Calibration curve for methyl ester formation with TMSD using ether
	as the solvent
12.	Calibration curve for methyl ester formation with TMSD using chloroform
	as the solvent
13.	Calibration curve for methyl ester formation with TMSD using acetone
	as the solvent
14.	Thin layer chromatography of free fatty acid methyl ester
15.	Chromatogram and mass spectrum of arachidonic acid methyl ester
	generated by TMSD32
16.	Chromatogram and mass spectrum of eicosapentaenoic acid methyl ester
	generated by TMSD
17.	Chromatogram and mass spectrum of docosahexaenoic acid methyl ester
	generated by TMSD34
18.	Chromatogram and mass spectrum for linoleic acid methyl ester

19.	Chromatogram and mass spectra of $\alpha$ -linolenic acid methyl ester $\dots$	
20.	Chromatogram and mass spectra of $\gamma$ - linolenic acid methyl ester	
21.	Chromatogram and mass spectra of oleic acid methyl ester	
22.	Chromatogram and mass spectra of Heptadecanoic acid methyl ester	
23.	Calibration curve for arachidonic acid methyl ester	40
24.	Calibration curve for eicosapentaenoic acid methyl ester	40
25.	Calibration curve for docosahexaenoic acid methyl ester	41
26.	Synthetic scheme for production of the derivative of PGE <sub>2</sub>	
27.	Chromatogram and mass spectrum of the PGE <sub>2</sub> derivative	43
28.	Chromatograms for PGE <sub>2</sub> and PGE <sub>2</sub> d4 derivative	44
29.	Calibration curve for PGE <sub>2</sub>	45
30.	Synthetic scheme for synthesis of a derivative of $PGF_{2\alpha}$	
31.	The gas chromatogram and mass spectrum of the $PGF_{2\alpha}$ standard	
32.	Calibration curve for $PGF_{2\alpha}$	47
33.	Structures of phosphatidylcholine and phosphatylethanolamine conta	ining
	Palmitic acid and arachidonic acid	
34.	Chromatogram and mass spectrum of phosphatidylcholine	49
35.	Chromatogram and mass spectrum of a sample of egg	50
36.	Chromatogram an mass spectrum of a sample of fish oil	51
37.	Chromatogram and mass spectrum of media containing A549 cells	
38.	Chromatogram of treated 9 THE cells with IL-1 $\beta$	53
39.	Chromatogram and mass spectra of the enzyme substrate reaction	
	of AA and COX-1	55

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AA	Arachidonic acid (C20:4n-6)		
BSTFA	Bistrimethylsilylfluoroacetamide		
COX	Cyclooxygenase		
DHA	Docosahexaenoic acid		
EFA	Essential Fatty Acids		
EPA	Eicosapentaenoic acid		
EGF	Endothelial growth factor		
FA	Fatty acid		
GLA	Gamma Linolenic Acid (C18:3n-6)		
HPETE	Hydro-peroxy-eicosatetraenoic acid		
IL	Interleukin		
LA	Linoleic acid (C18:3n-3)		
LNA	alfa-linolenic acid (C18:3n-3)		
LOX	Lipoxygenase		
LTB	Leukotrienes		
PGE	Prostaglandin E		
PLA <sub>2</sub>	Phospholipase A <sub>2</sub>		
PUFA	Polyunsaturated fatty acid		
TMCS	Trimethylchlorosilane		
TMSD	Trimethyl silyl diazomethane		
TNFα	Tumor necrosis factor		
TGFβ	Tumor growth factor		

#### **INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1 Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids (PUFAs)

Ingestion of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) will lead to their distribution to virtually every cell in the body with effects on membrane composition and function, eicosanoid biosynthesis, and signaling as well as in the regulation of gene expression (1). Dietary PUFAs have effects on diverse physiological processes impacting normal health and chronic disease, such as the regulation of plasma lipid levels, cardiovascular and immune function, insulin action, and neuronal development and visual function (2-7). Cell-specific lipid metabolism and the expression of fatty acid regulated transcription factors likely play important roles in determining how cells respond to changes in PUFA composition.

#### **1.2 Structural Characterization of PUFAs**

Chemically, PUFA belong to the class of simple lipids and are categorized as such due to the fact that they have two or more *cis* double bonds. The location of the first double bond, counted from the methyl end of the fatty acid, is designated by the omega- or n- number. For example, linoleic acid, in the n-6 family, is designated as C18:2 n-6 to indicate that it has 18 carbons and two double bonds, with the first double bond at the sixth carbon (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Structural formula of saturated, monounsaturated, and polyunsaturated fatty acids

There are two main families of PUFA, the n-3 and the n-6 PUFA. These fatty acid families are not interconvertible and have very different biochemical roles. Linoleic acid (n-6) (LA) and  $\alpha$ -linolenic acid (n-3) (LNA), two of the main representative compounds, are considered to be essential fatty acids (EFA); they must be provided in the diet because they cannot be synthesized in the body and their absence from the diet has pathological consequences.

#### **1.3 Sources of PUFA**

Vegetable oils, such as canola oil, are the major sources of the n-3 fatty acid, LNA. In particular, LNA is found in the chloroplast of green leafy vegetables, such as purslane and spinach, and in flax seed, linseed, walnuts, and so on (8). Purslane (*Portulaca olearacea*), a vegetable used in soups and salads along the Mediterranean basin and in Middle East, is the richest source of LNA of any green leafy vegetable examined to date (Figure 2). Moreover, it is one of the few plants known to be a source of eicosapentaenoic acid (C20:5 n-3, EPA) (8). Other

sources of n-3 fatty acids include nuts and seeds, vegetables and some fruits, egg yolk, poultry, and meat. Fish is the main source of EPA and of docosahexaenoic acid (C22:6 n-3, DHA, also known as Cervonic acid) (9).



Figure 2. Canola flower, left, (<u>http://www.northerncanola.com/photo/index.asp</u>); Purslane flower, right (<u>http://www.4to40.com/earth/geography/htm/flowersindex.asp?counter=107</u>) (Simpoulos, A.P.[1986] Purslane: A terrestrial source of omega-3. *N Engl J Med*; **315[13]**, 833)

Vegetables are the main source of n-6 fatty acids. The most important n-6 fatty acid, LA, is found in large amounts in western diets in corn oil, safflower oil, sunflower oil (Figure 3), and soybean oil (10). It is plentiful in nature and found in practically all plant seeds, with the exception of palm and cocoa.



Figure 3. Safflower plant (*CARTHAMUS TINCTORIUS*) (from http://www.unigraz.at/~katzer/engl/Cart\_tin.html)

#### **1.4 METABOLISM OF PUFA**

Plants can insert additional double bonds into oleic acid, a monounsaturated fatty acid that has a double bond, to form LA (with two double bonds) and LNA (with three double bonds). Vertebrate animals cannot insert double bonds more proximal to the methyl end than the seventh carbon atom. Furthermore, all metabolic conversion occurs without altering the methyl end of the molecule that contains the n-3 and n-6 double bonds. Therefore once ingested, n-3 and n-6 fatty acids are not interconvertible.

The diet primarily contains EFA in the form of LA and LNA, which are synthesized by plants. Within the human organism these 18-carbon precursors can be elongated and desaturated to produce more highly unsaturated members of their family, principally, arachidonic acid and docosahexaenoic acid. The liver is the primary site for EFA metabolism, although it does take place in other tissues as well (11).

The metabolic pathways of LN and LNA are depicted in Figure 4. The first part of this pathway takes place in the endoplasmic reticulum and involves the formation of AA (20:4) and docosapentaenoic acid (C22:5 n-3, DPA), which are produced by alternating elongation and desaturation steps that are catalyzed by fatty acid elongase  $\delta 6$ - and  $\delta 5$ - desaturases. The mechanism of the final conversion to 22:5 n-6 and DHA is not completely understood. Traditionally this final step has been thought to occur via a  $\delta 4$ -desaturase (12), but no proof of the existence of this enzyme has been ever found (13). Most lipid biochemists are convinced that the last step occurs primarily via chain elongation and desaturation followed by a retro-conversion step involving peroxismal beta-oxidation, via the "Sprecher pathway"(14).



METABOLIC PATHWAY OF LINOLEIC ACID AND ALFA- LINOLENIC ACID

Figure 4. Metabolic pathways for formation of AA, DHA, and EPA from the precursors LN and LNA.

For each fatty acid, two alternate pathways are shown, both of which are comprised of a

 $\delta$ -6 desaturase and a retro-conversion step involving  $\delta$ -4 desaturase.

(http://www.eunutroll.org/calvani.htm)

Infante and Huszangh (15,16) believe that the current evidence supports their proposal that the biosynthesis of 22:5n-6 and DHA occur via separate channeled carnitine-dependent mitochondrial pathways as shown in Figure 5. According to their view, the outer mitochondrial membrane may well be the sole site for DHA, whereas EPA and AA could be synthesized in the endoplasmic reticulum. They suggest that the mitochondrial and microsomal systems could be interregulated, redundant systems. The essential features of this pathway include the transport of acetate and long chain fatty acid substrates into mitochondria as carnitine esters (17), the use of

D- $\alpha$ -tocopherol or its quinone metabolites as specific cofactors in this pathway (18), a much greater incorporation of mitochondrial acetate when 22-carbon PUFA are present (19), and an intra-mitochondrial source of acetyl units, such as acetyl-carnitine, as the acetyl donor.



Figure 5. Enzymatic mechanism for the proposed mitochondrial carnitine- and αtocopherolquinone (α-TQ)-dependent channeled synthesis of DHA-containing phospholipids with phsophatidylcholine (PC)(http://www.eunutroll.org/calvani.htm )

Several *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies on rats and other animals have shown that LNA is a strong suppressor of n-6 fatty acid metabolism, whereas ten times as much LN is required to give an equal suppression of n-3 metabolism (12). *In vitro* studies on rat liver microsomes has confirmed that the n-6 and n-3 substrate competition occur at several steps in the microsomal pathway (20). These effects may not only be mediated by direct competitive mechanisms, but also very likely via regulation of the activity of desaturation and elongation enzymes at the level of gene expression (21).

#### **1.5 BIOLOGICAL AND FUNCTIONAL EFFECTS OF PUFA**

Both LNA and LA are now regarded as nutritionally essential fatty acids (EFA). However, all the classic symptoms of essential fatty acid deficiency (dermatitis, growth retardation, and infertility) can be completely cured by administration of the n-6 fatty acids alone. These symptoms relate to the biological function of n-6 fatty acids (22) examples of which include LA, the structural component in the ceramides that provides a water barrier of the skin and is involved in energy nutrition and fat absorption; AA, a precursor of the eicosanoids, which are local hormones that participate in a number of physiological as well as pathophysiological conditions (e.g. parturition initiation, platelet aggregation, renal electrolyte regulation, blastocyte implantation, and activation of immune cells); and n-6 fatty acids, which possibly also play a role as second messengers in signal transduction across cell membranes.

There is insufficient understanding of the essentiality of the n-3 fatty acids. The n-3 fatty acids can partially substitute for the n-6 fatty acids, which may comprise a sparing effect to ameliorate some of the EFA deficiency symptoms (e.g. growth retardation), but are now considered also to have their distinct role.

The biological functions of dietary n-3 fatty acids in the organism involve a carbon source for energy production and as a precursor to synthesis of other molecules (20). For example, EPA and DHA serve as a precursor for "n-3 eicosanoids," which have a much lower potency than those that are derived from n-6 fatty acids and are only formed in considerable amounts in tissues at fairly high dietary intakes of EPA and DHA. For this reason the effects of n-3 fatty acids on the synthesis, bioactivity, and metabolic clearance of eicosanoid products accounts partly for their anti-inflammatory properties. There is increasing evidence for a specific role of DHA in membrane function, especially in retinal and other neuronal tissues. Deficiencies

of n-3 PUFA lead to a loss of DHA from brain and retina rod outer segment phospholipids with a compensatory replacement by 22:5 n-6 fatty acids. The minor change in membrane phospholipid structure is sufficient to lead to memory loss, learning disabilities, and impaired visual acuity.

#### **1.6 EICOSANOID METABOLISM**

EFA in the plasma membrane serve as substrates for the enzyme cyclooxygenase (COX) and lipoxygenase (LOX) and are converted into a number of important, very active, short-lived, hormone-like compounds referred to as "eicosanoids." The families of prostaglandins, leukotrienes, and related compounds are called eicosanoids because they are derived from 20carbon EFA that contain three, four, or five double bonds (AA, EPA, and di-homo-γ-linolenic acid or C20:3 n-6, DGLA) and include prostaglandins (PGE), prostacyclins (PGI), thromboxanes (TXB) and leukotrienes (LTB).

In human beings, AA is the most abundant precursor; it is either derived from dietary LA or ingested in the diet. Arachidonate is esterified in phospholipids of the cell membrane or other complex lipids. The concentration of free AA in the cell is very low, so the biosynthesis of eicosanoids depends primarily on its hydrolytic release from phospholipids in the cell membrane by phospholipase A2 (PLA2). Eicosanoids influence numerous metabolic activities including platelet aggregation, inflammation, hemorrhage, vasoconstriction, vasodilatation, blood pressure, and immune functions. The overall synthesis of the prostaglandins, leukotrienes, and thromaboxanes from AA and EPA are shown in Figure 6. AA is the substrate for the "series 2" prostaglandins, the prostacyclins, the thromboxanes and the "series 4" leukotrienes, whereas EPA is the substrate for the "series 3" prostanoids and the "series 5" leukotrienes. The PUFA-

mediated immune response may be altered by changes in the production of immunologic mediators known as cytokines.



Figure 6. PUFA Oxidation Metabolic Route: AA- and EPA-derived eicosanoids (<u>http://www.eunutroll.org/calvani.htm</u>)

The synthesis of prostaglandins is accomplished by COX, a microsomal enzyme (also known as endoperoxide synthase or fatty acid cyclooxygenase) that uses AA or EPA as a substrate. There are two isoforms of this enzyme, COX-1 and COX-2. The former is constitutively expressed in most cells (i.e. gastric mucosa, vasculature, glomeruli, and collecting ducts of the kidney), and is concentrated in the endoplasmic reticulum. In contrast, COX-2 is normally not present but may be induced, both in the endoplasmic reticulum and over the surface

of the nucleus, by certain serum factors that serve as inflammatory cytokines (IL-11, IL-1beta, IL-6, TNF $\alpha$ ,), by growth factors (TGF $\beta$ , EGF), by tumor promoters, and by cAMP. Induction of COX is inhibited by treatment with glucocorticoids such as dexamethasone (23, 15, 16). Moreover, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs compete directly with arachidonate for binding to both COX-1 and COX-2 sites thus inhibiting their activity (16).

More recently, an "unorthodox" metabolic route for PUFA oxidation has been revealed. In particular, PUFA derived from membrane phospholipids can undergo auto-oxidation *in vivo*, generating a complex mixture of hydroperoxides, epoxides, and cyclic peroxides (24). Of particular medical interest are the isoprostanes and epoxides of AA and other PUFA. Isoprostanes of PUFA constitute a family of prostaglandin-related compounds that act as autacoids. The urinary isoprostane index offers a method to estimate lipid peroxidation in various diseases. Epoxides of PUFA can be formed by autooxidation, by cytochrome P450, and possibly by the oxidative burst of inflammatory cells (24). Epoxides of LNA are toxic, whereas epoxides of AA have a wide range of biological effects. The 5,6-epoxide of AA is an excellent substrate for COX and thromboxane synthase and has vascular and renal effects (25,26).

# 1.7 ANALYSIS OF FATTY ACIDS AND PROSTAGLANDINS BY GAS CHROMATOGRAPHY

The preparation of the methyl ester derivatives of fatty acids for analysis by gas chromatography is by far the most common chemical reaction performed by lipid analysts. In acid-catalyzed methylation or transesterification procedures, the most common and mildest reagent is 5% (w/v) anhydrous hydrogen chloride in methanol. This method is best suited to bulk preparation of the reagent. A simpler and safer procedure that is more suited to small-scale

preparations involves the slow addition of a solution of acetyl chloride to cooled, dry methanol. Some methyl acetate is formed as a by-product, but it does not generally interfere with methylation. As an alternative to methanolic hydrogen chloride, a solution of concentrated sulphuric acid in methanol transesterifies lipids in the same manner and at much the same rate. It is very easy to prepare, although high temperatures are required for the reaction to occur and the yield of methyl ester product is generally low.

In base-catalyzed methods, triglycerides and phospholipids are transesterified very rapidly in anhydrous methanol in the presence of a basic catalyst, usually sodium methoxide, which facilitates the exchange between glycerol and methanol, and the methyl esters required are quickly obtained in quantitative yield. Free fatty acids are not esterified under such conditions, so care must be taken to exclude water from the reaction medium to prevent the occurrence of this unwanted and irreversible hydrolytic reaction. Sodium methoxide in anhydrous methanol, prepared simply by dissolving fresh clean sodium in dry methanol, is the most popular reagent. Boron trifluoride-methanol is very popular as a methylating reagent, but it has a number of disadvantages. Inconsistent results are obtained with this method, which are thought to be due to the age of the reagent, probably as a result of the formation of further fluoroboron compounds by reaction with atmospheric oxygen. Apart from the undesirable reaction with unsaturated fatty acids, boron trifluoride/methanol will also cleave the rings in cyclopropane fatty acids (commonly encountered in microorganisms); and it reacts with the other reagents to produce spurious peaks in chromatograms (27).

Pentafluorodiazoalkanes have been used to prepare derivatives from unesterified fatty acids that are suitable for GC with sensitive electron-capture detection(28, 29, 30).Diazomethane (31) reacts rapidly with unesterified fatty acids to give methyl esters but does not affect

transesterification of other lipids. Solutions of diazomethane in diethyl ether (with a little alcohol) are stable for short periods if stored in the dark over potassium hydroxide pellets at refrigeration temperatures. However, if they are kept too long, polymeric by-products are formed, which interfere with GC analyses (32-34). Diazomethane is potentially explosive and great care must be exercised in its preparation; in particular, apparatus with ground-glass joints and strong light must be avoided. The reagent is toxic and is liable to cause development of specific sensitivity; nitrosamides used in the preparation of diazomethane must be handled with care, as they are potential carcinogens. Small-scale procedures are recommended, because if sensible precautions are taken, the risks to health are slight, while methyl esters are prepared rapidly with virtually no formation of artifacts. Suitable micro-equipment is available from commercial sources (34-36).

From the previous discussion, it is evident that there are a number of compounds with highly similar structures, which play important roles and need to be measured in food materials and in the body. High-performance liquid chromatography is a popular means by which scientists resolve and quantify fatty acid and fatty acid-derived compounds, mainly because the compounds that are measured do not have to be modified for analysis (37). However, in gas chromatography, the molecules need to be made thermally stable to withstand vaporization for



Figure 7. Preparation of methyl ester of fatty acids

entrance into the gas phase, usually to more apolar derivatives, that are volatile at GC-friendly temperatures and thus require chemical modification (38). One moiety that is common to these compounds is the carboxylic acid, which is commonly converted to the methyl ester prior to analysis. Fatty acids are converted to the methyl esters (Figure 7) by a number of different methods, including treatment with an acid catalyst (hydrochloric acid or sulfuric acid) in the presence of methanol, tetramethyl ammonium hydroxide, borontrifluoride, IRA-400 and methanolic hydrochloride, or diazomethane (27). Many of these reagents are unsuitable for formation of methyl esters of prostaglandins due to conditions that may degrade these unstable species, although diazomethane has enjoyed widespread use as an appropriate reagent for this application (28). Unfortunately, there are a number of drawbacks to the use of diazomethane that include a lengthy preparation of the reagent, a potential to explode, and precursors used for preparation of diazomethane that are mutagenic and carcinogenic (35, 36, 34).

Trimethyl\_silyl\_diazomethane (TMSD) was originally used with methanol as the methylating reagent in the preparation of drugs, organic compounds, and some fatty acids (39). The mechanism for formation of the methyl ester with TMSD is shown in Figure 8. Three-point GC calibration curves were demonstrated by Yokota et al.(40) to be linear over a three- to four-fold range, and the reagent was shown to be as capable as diazomethane in promoting the formation of methyl esters as shown in Figure 9. Moreover, TMSD is stable, and so it does not need to be prepared from a precursor compound, is less hazardous, and provides an excellent yield at room temperature and thus does not require heat for efficient catalysis (40).



Figure 8. Reaction mechanism for formation of fatty acid methyl esters with TMSD



Figure 9. Calibration curves for fatty acid methyl esters (14:0, 16:0, 18:1, 18:2, and 20:4) and comparison of GC chromatograms for fatty acid methyl esters prepared with TMSD or diazomethane (from Ref. 40)

Several procedures have been described to recover lipids from organisms, mainly bacteria, tissues, or cell types. The first study on the dissolution of lipid materials was done by Chevreul (41). In 1879, Franz Von Soxhlet described the first method based on dissolution of

milk lipids in diethyl ether (42). A further improvement was made in 1914 with a mixture of ethanol:ether (3:1) for lipid extraction (43). Chloroform was used in extraction of lipids from bacteria (44) or plant material (45). Folsch developed mild procedures for quantitative extraction of brain lipids leading to the classical use of a chloroform-methanol mixture. The factors affecting the extractability of lipids by solvents have been reviewed comprehensively by Zahler and Niggli (46). Hexane is quite popular in the extraction of a wide range of lipid oxidation products from biological media such as plasma, rat liver, and microsomes for quantitative determination (47).

Adiposomes store ether lipids inside the cells for better packaging and distribution inside the cell, particularly in the dynamic organelle system composed of neutral lipids surrounded by a monolayer of phospholipids and associated proteins. Diethyl ether would seem to be an appropriate solvent for extraction of these lipids since it has similar physical/chemical properties to the molecules that require extraction (48). A mixture of hexane:diethyl ether was used in the extraction of oxysterols and other lipid oxidation products from normal human arteries, fatty streaks and other lipid oxidation products (49). Whereas petroleum ether has been chosen as an appropriate reagent for lipid extraction, hexane has been widely used in quantitative determination of lipids and the lipid metabolites.

#### **1.8 OBJECTIVES OF THE RESEARCH PROJECT**

The first objective of the research project is to study the TMSD reaction top determine [1] the optimal amount of TMSD for methylation and [2] to attempt to develop the reaction for use in safer solvents than the benzene solvent that is usually used. The second objective is to determine whether the TMSD reaction could support methylation of C18 to C22 polyunsaturated fatty acids and the prostaglandins,  $PGE_2$  and  $PGF_{2\alpha}$ . The third objective is to develop GC calibration curves for these fatty acids and prostaglandins using appropriate internal standards. The final objective involves an attempt to determine whether this method could be used as a part of the chemical derivatization scheme to characterize these lipids by GC-MS in cell culture and other cell-free systems, such as those containing enzymes like cyclooxygenase.

#### **EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES**

#### 2.1 Fatty acid preparation

All of the fatty acids, arachidonic acid, linoleic acid,  $\gamma$ -linolenic acid,  $\alpha$ -linolenic acid, eicosapentanoic acid, docosahexanoic acid were shipped in an ethanol stock (Cayman Chemical, Ann Arbor). A stock concentration of 1 mg/mL in ethanol was prepared for all of the fatty acids. A sample calculation to determine the number of moles of arachidonic acid is shown below for 50 µL of the stock solution, which contained 1 mg/mL of arachidonic acid (MW = 304.5 g/mol).

 $1 \text{ mg/mL x } 0.050 \text{ mL}/304.5 \text{ g/mol} = 1.642 \text{x} 10^{-7} \text{ mol}.$ 

In some experiments, the volume of fatty acid preparation used was kept constant, and therefore, the concentration of the stock solution was varied to allow different concentrations of fatty acids (preparation #1). In other experiments, stock concentrations of fatty acids were prepared in ethanol as shown in Table 1 (preparation #2).

Fatty acid	Molecular weight (g/mol)	Stock conc. prepared (mg/mL)
Arachidonic acid	318	2.5
Linoleic acid	294	2.3
Gamma- linolenic acid	292	2.3
Alpha-linolenic acid	292	2.3
Eicosapentanoic acid	302	2.5
Docosahexanoic acid	342	2.6

Table 1 Molecular weight and stock concentrations of fatty acids used for the experiments

The internal standard used in the experiments was heptadecanoic acid. Heptadecanoic acid (MW 270.45 g/mol) was provided as a powder, and a stock solution of 2.3 mg/mL ethanol was prepared.

# 2.2 Preparation and optimization of the solvent system used in methyl esterification with TMSD

We used the acetone-methanol solvent system (20% methanol in acetone), which provided an optimal yield of methyl ester product relative to other solvent systems, with fewer side products. For the preparation of 20% methanol in acetone, 800  $\mu$ L of acetone is taken in the test tube to which was added 200  $\mu$ L of methanol, and the mixture was vortexed for 1 min prior to use. The solvent system was prepared fresh daily (40).

#### 2.3 Preparation and standardization of the methylating agent

A stock solution of 2.0 M TMSD was provided by Aldrich. The optimum concentration used for all our reaction steps was 0.02 M TMSD. To make the stock solution, 10  $\mu$ L of 2.0 M TMSD was added to 990  $\mu$ L of heptane, and the mixture was subjected to vortexing for 1 min. Fresh TMSD reagent solutions were made on the day of their use (40).

# 2.4 Conversion of polyunsaturated fatty acids and phospholipids to their methyl esters by TMSD

The procedure for methyl esterification of fatty acids by TMSD was modified from a previously established procedure (40). A fixed quantity (10, 20, 50  $\mu$ L) of each of the polyunsaturated fatty acids and 10  $\mu$ L of the internal standard, heptadecanoic acid, was added to

a test tube, and the mixture was evaporated to dryness under a stream of nitrogen ( $N_2$ ). Addition of 350 µL of 20% methanol-acetone solution was used to resuspend the fatty acid and provide a source for the methyl group, after which an equal volume of 0.02 M TMSD was added, and the mixture was vortexed for 1 min and left at room temperature for 20 to 30 min, vortexing periodically (every 15 min). The mixture was evaporated under a stream of nitrogen or argon, after which 100 µL of ethyl acetate was added to the lyophilized sample. The resulting products were then subjected to analysis by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry.

An experiment was conducted in which varied amounts (50  $\mu$ L to 500  $\mu$ L) of TMSD (with an equal volume of 20% methanol-acetone 1:1) were used with a constant amount of arachidonic acid (20  $\mu$ L of 1 mg/mL). The maximal production of arachidonic acid methyl ester occurred at 100  $\mu$ L of TMSD, and when a volume greater than 350  $\mu$ L of TMSD was used, there were additional, undesirable products formed. Fatty acids other than arachidonic acid required amounts of TMSD up to 350  $\mu$ L to give the methyl ester. The optimal amount required for the reaction was eventually found to be 350  $\mu$ L of 0.02 M TMSD (0.007 mol TMSD). For convenience, we used equal volumes of the solvent system and the methylating agent. The reactions were carried out at room temperature. The data for conversion of the fatty acids to their methyl esters were confirmed by thin layer chromatography using silica as the stationary phase and 0.1% glacial acetic acid as the mobile phase. TLC was also used to detect side products. The products of the reaction in ethyl acetate were then subjected to gas chromatography and mass spectrometry for analysis (50, 51).

#### 2.5 Methyl esterification of fatty acids contained in phospholipid and egg yolk

We also used the methylation process to identify the constituent fatty acids from phosphatidylcholine containing palmitic acid and arachidonic acid. A 20  $\mu$ L aliquot of the sample from the stock concentration of 1 mg/ml (in water) was delivered to a test tube and sonicated. Two mL of potassium hydroxide (10%) were added to the sample and heated at 50 °C for one hour, after which 1M HCl was added to bring the pH to 3. Extraction of the liberated fatty acids was accomplished with hexane in 10% (v:v) ether. The organic phase was collected in a clean test tube, and the process was repeated two times. A pinch of magnesium sulfate was added to the mixture, which was set aside for 1 hr to allow for the removal of water. The drying agent was then removed by centrifugation. The extracted hexane layer was then evaporated under nitrogen to bring it back to half of the original volume, which came to about 500  $\mu$ L. The saponified sample was preserved in argon. A certain fixed amount (10, 20, and 50  $\mu$ L) of the saponified sample was evaporated to dryness under N<sub>2</sub>, and the lyophilized sample was resuspended in methanol/acetone solvent and subjected to methyl esterification by using TMSD using the procedure outlined above.

A 20  $\mu$ L sample of egg yolk (Eggland's Best) and 2 mL of potassium hydroxide (10%) were combined and heated at 50 °C for one hour, and fatty acid methyl esters were prepared in the same manner as for those prepared from phospholipid. Fatty acid methyl esters were prepared from fish oil capsules (Nature Made) in the same manner as those prepared from egg white. The same procedure was followed for derivatisation of the fatty acid capsules as that for the fortified egg yolk (52-54).

#### **2.6 Preparation of the stock solutions of prostaglandins**

Dilute solutions of the prostaglandins PGE<sub>2</sub> and PGF<sub>2 $\alpha$ </sub> were prepared from a stock of 1mg/mL in ethanol. The stock solution was prepared by dilution in neat ethyl alcohol. Several-fold dilution of the prostaglandin was done to make a stock concentration of 1 ng/ml. The deuterated sample of PGE<sub>2</sub>-d4 (Cayman Chemical) and PGF<sub>2 $\alpha$ </sub>-d4 (Cayman Chemical) came as a stock of 50 µg/ml in ethanol. The four deuterium atoms are located at the third and fourth carbons at the carboxylate end of the prostaglandin. The deuterated-PGE<sub>2</sub> and -PGF<sub>2 $\alpha$ </sub> stocks were diluted with 100% pure ethyl alcohol to a concentration of 1 ng/ml; 10 µL was used as an internal standard in the calibration curve for the respective prostaglandin (55,56).

#### 2.7 Methyl esterification of prostaglandins by TMSD

PGE<sub>2</sub> derivatives for GC-MS analysis were prepared by first converting the carbonyl group to an oxime according to a modification of the method of Kristrer Green (57), methylating the carboxylic acid ester with TMSD, and then silylating the hydroxyl groups according to a modification of the method used for penicillins and cephalosporins (58). A sample of PGE<sub>2</sub> (1 ng/ml) was added to a test tube along with 10  $\mu$ L of the deuterated sample (1 ng/ml), and solvent was removed by evaporation under nitrogen. An aliquot (1 mg) of methyloxime in 100  $\mu$ L of pyridine was added to a test tube containing the lyophilized sample, vortexed for 1 min, and kept in a hot water bath at 60 °C for 2 to 3 hr. The methyl ester was formed by using trimethylsilyl diazomethane in a solvent system of 20% methanol in acetone using the same procedure as described above. To prepare the silylated compound, the lyophilized derivative was resuspended in 75  $\mu$ L of bis-trimethylsilyl trifluoroacetamide (BSTFA) in 1% trimethyl chlorosilane (TMCS) and 25  $\mu$ L of pyridine, and the reaction was allowed to proceed in a hot water bath (60°C) for 1

hr. The samples were then subjected to chromatography on a silica column and eluted from the column with ethyl acetate, and the volume of the preparation was reduced to one-half of the original volume prior to GC-MS analysis.  $PGF_{2\alpha}$  has only alcohol groups that require silylation, and thus the methyl esterification was accomplished by the TMSD reaction, and then the three hydroxyl groups were silylated as described for preparation of the PGE<sub>2</sub> derivative.

#### 2.8 Analysis of prostaglandins by methyl esterification in a cell-free system

To analyze prostaglandin production in cell culture, we have obtained cell culture media in which A-549 cells and 9HTE cell-free system were grown. A 1.5-mL aliquot of the media was mixed with 2 mL of distilled, deionized water that was acidified with HCl to pH 3.0, and the mixture was kept on ice for 15 minutes. A prostaglandin-containing fraction was obtained by purification on a C18 Sep-Pak cartridge column in the following manner. After application of the sample, the column was washed with 15% methanol in acidified water (pH 3.0), followed by 2 mL of water and 2 ml of acetonitrile, and then washed with distilled, deionized water. The prostaglandin fraction was eluted with 4 mL of methyl formate, which was evaporated under a stream of nitrogen and then resuspended in solvent for derivatization according to the procedure outlined for PGE<sub>2</sub>, except that a silica column was used after the methylation reaction (59-63).

#### 2.9 Prostaglandin formation in the cylooxygenase-1 reaction

An amount of 100  $\mu$ L of phosphate buffer was added to 50  $\mu$ L of 1% Tween-20, 100  $\mu$ L of 50% glycerol, 100  $\mu$ L of 2.5 mM phenol, and 8  $\mu$ L of cylooxygenase-1 enzyme preparation (0.8kU/ $\mu$ L sample; Cayman Chemical) to produce a total of 500  $\mu$ L. An aliquot of 50  $\mu$ L (from 2.5 mg/mL stock) of the fatty acid (arachidonic acid,  $\gamma$ -linolenic acid, or EPA) was added to a

test tube and the solvent was removed under a stream of nitrogen. The 500  $\mu$ L of the components listed above were added to the tube containing the lyophilized fatty acid, and the mixture was sonicated to resuspend the fatty acid. The whole reaction mixture was placed in a 37 °C water bath for 25 min, after which 200  $\mu$ L of anhydrous methanol and 100  $\mu$ L of 1 M citric acid were added to quench the reaction. Three successive extractions were done with hexane, and the sample was prepared for GC-MS analysis per the procedure described for PGE<sub>2</sub> (64-66).

#### 2.10 Gas Chromatography and Mass Spectrometry Conditions

Methoxime and silyl derivatives of prostaglandin methyl esters were analyzed (62) in chemical ionization mode and electron impact mode in GC-MS using the Saturn Varian 3800 GC and 2000 MS with 8410 autosampler. Helium was used as the carrier gas with a VF-5 ms factor four capillary column (30 m long, 0.25 mm i.d., 0.25  $\mu$ M film thickness) (67). A 1  $\mu$ L of the sample was injected onto the column with a speed of 5  $\mu$ L/sec. Chromatographic separations were performed using a constant pressure injection of 10 psi. The GC column temperature, in general, was programmed from 240 to 300 °C at a rate of 40 °C/min. In constant pressure mode, the column flow rate would decrease as column temperature increased during the run. This would cause a slight shift in the mass axis for the collection of the GC/MS data. To assure correct mass assignments, the mass calibration was run with the GC column oven set at or near the high temperature for the column program in the GC/MS method. For analysis of prostaglandins in the chemical ionization and electron impact mode, in general, the injector temperature was set at 250 °C with a column oven end-time of 18.50 min. The column flow was maintained constant at 1.4 mL/min, with the stabilization time being 0.20 min. The detector

bunch rate during data acquisition is 4 Hz as compared to the maximum value of 10Hz. The noise monitor length is 64 sec, the bunched points being 6.4 sec.

The MS method was specified to have a 2.4 min solvent delay. As a rule, the first chromatographic peak eluted shortly after 2.0 min. In all our experiments the elution time was between 5 and 12 min, the full time length of running being 15 min. For CI method conditions, the injector temperature was set at 250 °C and the column oven temperature was set at a range between 200 to 300 °C, with a total holding time of 11 min. The initial signal noise ratio was five with a deviation tolerance of 100% and a range tolerance of 10%. The CI reagent was methanol.

In the EI method, the injector temperature was set at 250 °C. The column oven temperature was set at a range of 200 to 275 °C with a total hold time of 12 min. The tolerance range for the signal to noise detection was 20% as compared to CI mode, which was 10%. This ensured a better signaling for the specific mass ions of the elutants.

Calibrating with an internal standard accounted for the variation in sample volumes lost during sample preparation. A small amount of internal standard was added to sets of standards and samples. Any variation in the sample volume was reflected by a detectable variation in the ratio of the areas and amounts for the internal standard.
Emission current	10 microamps
Mass defect	0mmu/100u
Count threshold	1 counts
Multiplier offset	0 volts
Scan time	10.00 secs
Segment start time	3.00 mins
Segment end time	10.00 mins
Segment low mass	40m/z
Segment high mass	650m/z
Ionization mode	CI

Table 2: Gas Chromatography conditions for fatty acid methyl esters (chemical ionization mode)

Table 3: Gas Chromatography conditions for Fatty Acid Methyl Esters (Electron Impact Mode)

Emission current	20 microamps
Mass defect	0 mmu/100u
Count threshold	1 counts
Multiplier offset	0 volts
Scan time	0.500 secs
Segment start time	3.00 mins
Segment end time	15.00 mins
Segment low mass	40m/z
Segment high mass	650m/z
Ionization mode	EI

Mode)	
Front injector type	1177
Temperature (°C)	250
Column flow (ml/min)	1.4
, , ,	

 Table 4:
 Gas Chromatography Conditions for Prostaglandin Methyl Esters(Chemical Ionization Mode)

# Table 5 : Column oven temperature for the Chemical Ionization Mode

Temperature (°C)	Rate (°C/min)	Hold (min)	Total (min)
200	-	2.00	2.00
240	40.0	0.00	3.00
304	8.0	0.00	11.00

Table 6: Gas-chromatography conditions for prostaglandin methyl esters( Electron Impact Mode)

Front Injector type	1177
Temperature (°C)	250
Column flow (ml/min)	1.2

 Table 7 :
 Column oven temperature for the Electron Impact Mode

Rate (°C/min)	Hold (min)	Total (min)
-	2.00	2.00
40.0	0.00	2.00
40.0	0.00	3.00
8.0	4.50	11.88
	Rate (°C/min) - 40.0 8.0	Rate (°C/min)       Hold (min)         -       2.00         40.0       0.00         8.0       4.50

### RESULTS

## 3.1 Methylation of Fatty Acids/Optimization of the Methylation reaction for TMSD

In addition to defining the optimal amount of TMSD that was needed to form the methyl ester, in experiments that were explained in the Experimental Procedure, there was also an interest in evaluating several solvents for their ability to substitute for benzene as the solvent in a reaction to form the methyl ester of arachidonic acid. Figures 10, 11, 12, and 13 show the calibration curves for arachidonic acid methyl ester for benzene, ether, chloroform, and acetone, respectively.



Figure 10. Calibration curve for methyl ester formation with TMSD using benzene as the solvent. Each data point represents the average of two or more samples. The  $R^2$  value is 0.9988 and the equation for the line is y = 25.5x - 23.



Figure 11. Calibration curve for methyl ester formation with TMSD using ether as the solvent. Each data point represents the average of two or more samples. The  $R^2$  value is 0.9492 and the equation for the line is y = 58.16x - 54.25.



Figure 12. Calibration curve for methyl ester formation with TMSD using chloroform as the solvent. Each data point represents the average of two samples. The  $R^2$  value is 0.7764 and the equation for the line is y = 568x - 734.



Figure 13. Calibration curve for methyl ester formation with TMSD using acetone as the solvent. Each data point represents the average of two or more samples. The  $R^2$  value is 0.9385 and the equation for the line is y = 570700x - 1159000.

To aid in determining the optimal conditions for formation of the methylated fatty acids with TMSD, the extent of the methylation reaction had to be monitored. The first and more qualitative approach to determining the extent of the methylation involved thin layer chromatography. The free and methylated fatty acids were separated on silica plates using a solvent system containing an apolar solvent of hexane:diethyl ether:glacial acetic acid, with phosphomolybdic acid as the reagent used to visualize the two species. Retention factor values for the free and methyl esters of the fatty acids were 0.5 and 0.75, respectively, and TLC plates showing native and methyl esters in preliminary studies for methylation with TMSD of a linolenic acid is shown in Figure 14 (68, 69). There was originally a minimal conversion of

linolenic acid to the methyl ester as shown by the relatively small amount of material with  $t_R$  of 0.75 in Figure 14, but nearly complete conversion to the methyl ester was obtained following optimization of the amount of TMSD used in the methylation (data not shown).



Figure 14. Thin layer chromatography of (A) free and (B) esterified after reaction of linolenic acid with TMSD. The  $t_R$  values of the free and esterified linolenic acid are 0.5 and 0.75, respectively

The TLC was also used as the screening procedure to identify undesirable side

products. A more quantitative measurement to determine the percent conversion of the fatty acid to its methyl ester was taken from the literature (70). The extent of conversion for a fatty acid in the presence of the internal standard was determined by independently running the methylation reaction for the fatty acid alone and then, in a second reaction, conducting the methylation reaction with the fatty acid and the internal standard in the same reaction tube. The total number of moles for the individual reactions was set equal to the total number of moles for the fatty acid obtained from the chromatographic data when assayed alone was divided by the peak area for the fatty

acid in the reaction with the combined fatty acid and internal standard and multiplied by 100 to obtain the percent conversion. The percent conversions for several fatty acids are given below in Table 8, which reveals that all of the fatty acids tested were quantitatively converted to their methyl esters except for linoleic acid. In addition to evaluation of solvents for the methylation reaction supported by TMSD, other experiments were conducted to determine the optimal amount of TMSD to use in the reaction (see Experimental Procedures).

Fatty acid	Desgination	% Conversion
Linoleic acid	18:2	70
α-Linolenic acid	18:3	92
γ-Linolenic acid	18:3	90
Arachidonic acid	20:4	95
Eicosapentenoic acid	20:5	99
Docosahexenoic acid	22:6	100

Table 8: The extent of conversion of fatty acids in the TMSD reaction to the methyl ester

### 3.2 Chromatograms and Mass Spectra of Some Fatty Acids Methyl Esters

The reaction with TMSD was carried out with a number of polyunsaturated fatty acids, and the methyl esters were subjected to gas chromatography and ion trap mass spectrometry. The chromatogram and mass spectra of the arachidonic acid methyl ester are shown in Figure 15. Interestingly, the methyl ester elutes from the column in a non-Gaussian fashion, with a considerable tail on the backside of the peak; the retention time for the apex of the peak occurs at 12.9 min, with most (about 90%) of the compound eluting from 12.8 to 13.2 min. The apex was assayed for the mass spectrum, which possessed a prominent ion at 319 m/z, and other prominent ions above 200 m/z of 203, 207, 221, 269, and 287. Three ions with an m/z of 97, 137 and 177

m/z have been reported as prominent ions in the mass spectrum for arachidonic acid methyl ester (71). These ions are envisioned to be generated by cleavage of the carbon-carbon bond on the ester side of the double bonds that start at carbons 8, 11, and 14.

The chromatogram of the methyl ester of eicosapentanoic acid and its mass spectrum are shown in Figure 16. The compound eluted from 13.0 to 13.5 min, its apex was at 13.1 min, and, like arachidonic acid, was not Gaussian. One distinguishing ion had an m/z of 319, with other ions above 200.



Figure 15. Chromatogram (above) and mass spectrum (below) of arachidonic acid methyl ester generated by the TMSD methylation reaction.

The chromatogram of docosahexanoic acid methyl ester and its mass spectrum are shown in Figure 17. The compound elutes in a range of 14.2 to 14.3 min and has a peak shape that is

not Gaussian. The molecular ion is expected to have an m/z of 343, but it is not a prominent ion. The other ions of m/z greater than 200 are those of 293, 310, and 213. Literature values for the fragmentation products include m/z of 201, 274, and 299 (72). A similar pattern of ions below m/z of 200 for all of the methyl esters generated thus far indicates that the regular structures of all these polyunsaturated fatty acids are cleaved at similar carbon-carbon bonds in all these molecules.



Figure 16. Chromatogram (above) and mass spectrum (below) of eicosapentanoic acid methyl ester generated by the TMSD methylation reaction



Figure 17. Chromatogram (above) and mass spectrum (below) of docosahexanoic acid methyl ester.



Figure 18. Chromatogram(above) and mass spectrum (below) were obtained for the methyl ester of linoleic acid.

Chromatograms and mass spectra were obtained for the methyl esters of linoleic acid,  $\alpha$ -

linolenic acid, and  $\gamma$ -linolenic acid, which have prominent ions of 291, 294, and 293,

respectively, as shown in Figures 18, 19, and 20. These prominent ions presumably represent the molecular ions.



Figure 19. Chromatogram (above) and mass spectra (below) were obtained for the methyl esters of  $\alpha$ -linolenic acid.



Figure 20. Chromatogram (above) and mass spectra (below) were obtained for the methyl esters of  $\gamma$ -linolenic acid.

The oleic acid methyl ester was generated by the TMSD reaction, and its chromatogram and mass spectrum are shown in Figure 21. Oleic acid methyl ester elutes as a symmetrical peak, with an apex at about 12.2 min. The molecular ion at m/z 297 is the prominent ion in the mass spectrum, with a secondary peak at m/z 263 (73).



Figure 21. Chromatogram (above) and mass spectrum (below) for oleic acid methyl ester.

The compound that we wished to use as an internal standard, heptadecanoic acid, a 17carbon, saturated fatty acid, and heptadecanoic acid methyl ester chromatogram and mass spectrum is shown in Figure 22 (74). Heptadecanoic acid methyl ester elutes from 11.8 to 11.9 min, with an apex at 11.85 min. The molecular ion with m/z of 285 is well represented in the mass spectrum, and the other ion that is generated has an m/z of 251.



Figure 22. Chromatogram (above) and mass spectrum (below) for heptadecanoic acid methyl ester generated by the TMSD methylation reaction

# **3.3 Calibration Curves for Selected Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids**

The calibration curves for arachidonic acid, eicosapentanoic acid, and docosahexanoic acid methyl esters are shown in Figures 23, 24, and 25, with heptadecanoic acid used as the internal standard. The standards were linear with concentration over four-, five-, and six-fold range for AA, EPA, and DHA methyl esters, respectively. A range of values from one greater to one less than the value for the molecular ion were used to calculate the peak area for each compound and for the internal standard.



Figure 23. Calibration curve for arachidonic acid methyl ester with heptadecanoic acid (HDA) as the internal standard. The x-axis values represent the amount of arachidonic acid in  $\mu$ L (concentration being 2.5 mg/mL).



Figure 24. Calibration curve for eicosapentaenoic acid acid methyl ester with heptadecanoic acid (HDA) as the internal standard. The x-axis values represent the mole ratio of EPA to HDA, with a constant amount of HDA used for each standard.



Figure 25. Calibration curve for docosahexanoic acid methyl ester with heptadecanoic acid (HDA) as the internal standard. The x-axis values represent the mole ratio of Docosahexaenoic acid to HDA, with a constant amount of HDA used for each standard

# 3.4 Characterization of Chromatography and Mass Spectra of Prostaglandis $PGE_2$ and $PGF_{2\alpha}$

For TMSD to be truly useful as a broad-spectrum reagent for ester formation,

experiments were conducted to determine whether it could be used with prostaglandins, PGE2

and PGF<sub>2 $\alpha$ </sub>, in a synthetic regime to produce derivatives that could be characterized by GC-MS.

The synthetic scheme for PGE<sub>2</sub> involved, in successive reactions, the methoximation of the

carbonyl group, formation of the methyl ester with TMSD, and silvlation of the hydroxyl group,

as shown in Figure 26. The prostaglandins were subjected to gas chromatography that promoted the elution of prostaglandins  $PGE_2$  and  $PGF_{2\alpha}$  at about 7.2 min. The chromatogram of the derivative of  $PGE_2$  and its mass spectrum are shown in Figure 27. The peak shape was not symmetrical, and assay of the mass spectrum of the compound at the apex revealed several prominent ions, including a major ion with an m/z of 513.



Figure 26. Synthetic scheme for production of the derivative of PGE<sub>2</sub> that was subjected to gas chromatography and mass spectral analysis.



Figure 27. Chromatogram (above) and mass spectrum (below) of the PGE<sub>2</sub> derivative. Several chromatograms are overlaid, which show a variety of peak sizes related to different amounts of PGE<sub>2</sub>.

The chromatogram and mass spectrum of derivative of deuterated PGE<sub>2</sub> standard are shown in Figure 28. The mass spectrum is rather complex with no prominent ions that will not presently allow for the successful development of a quantitative assay for PGE<sub>2</sub>. Nevertheless, a calibration curve for PGE<sub>2</sub> was constructed for a series of PGE<sub>2</sub> concentrations without the internal standard and is shown in Figure 29. The curve was linear over a 90-fold range, with a correlation coefficient of 0.9860. Work with the mass spec programming will need to be done in an attempt to preserve the molecular ion to allow the successful distinguishing of the two PGE<sub>2</sub> compounds within the same sample.



Figure 28. Chromatogram (above) and mass spectrum (below) of PGE<sub>2</sub>-d4.



Figure 29. Calibration curve for PGE<sub>2</sub>. Each data point represents the value for a single determination and the total ion chromatogram was used to determine peak area. The correlation coefficient is 0.9860 and the equation for the line is y = 9.9994x + 480

The derivatization of  $PGF_{2\alpha}$  required only the formation of the methyl ester and silyl ethers as shown in Figure 30.



Figure 30. Synthetic scheme for synthesis of a derivative of  $PGF_{2\alpha}$ .

The chromatogram of the  $PGF_{2\alpha}$  revealed an asymmetrical peak that, like the derivative for  $PGE_2$ and the mass spectrum generated by the derivative in the chemical ionization mode, is shown in Figure 31.



Figure 31. The gas chromatogram (above) and the mass spectrum (below) of the standard  $PGF_{2\alpha}$ .

The mass spectrum for PGF2 $\alpha$  is virtually indistinguishable from that of the PGE2 derivative, with the same prominent m/z 513 and 456 ions and identical minor ions of 150, 169, 249, 280, and 500. Both derivatives PGE2 and PGF2 $\alpha$  possess similar molecular weight occasionally with different functional groups. The derivative for the deuterated form of PGF<sub>2 $\alpha$ </sub> did not give a substantial ion abundance in the chromatogram to be used successfully in a quantitative assay (data not shown). A calibration curve was determined by assaying the peak area for various concentrations of  $PGF_{2\alpha}$  without the deuterated- $PGF_{2\alpha}$ , and is shown in Figure 32. As with  $PGF_{2\alpha}$ , the curve is linear over a 90-fold range with the lowest level evaluated 10 pg/mL.



Figure 32. Calibration curve for  $PGF_{2\alpha}$ . Each data point represents the value for a single determination, and the total ion chromatogram was used to determine peak area. The correlation coefficient is 0.9828 and the equation for the line is y = 10220x + 112400.

#### 3.5 Attempts to characterize fatty acids in phospholipids, egg yolk, and fish oil

Preliminary attempts were made to determine whether the methyl esterification of fatty acids using the TMSD reagent could lead to their identification in biological samples. To determine whether the fatty acids AA and palmitic acid can be identified, the phospholipids phosphatidylcholine or phosphatidylethanolamine shown in Figure 33 were saponified to release the fatty acids, and then the free fatty acids were esterified using the TMSD reagent (75, 76).



Figure 33. Structures of phosphatidylcholine and phosphatidylethanolamine, which contain palmitic acid (18:0) and arachidonic acid (20:4) at the SN1 and SN2 positions, respectively.

The chromatogram of the resultant preparation shown in Figure 35 (panel A) contains only a single peak centered at about 6.9 min, which is significantly less than the retention time for arachidonic acid as shown in Figure 14. The GC conditions for this experiment were the same as were used for the prostaglandins, which leads to an earlier elution for the fatty acids relative to the conditions used for the fatty acids presented earlier in the Results. The mass spectrum of the species at the apex of the peak is shown in Figure 36 (panel B). An m/z of 391 was observed in a few experiments (not shown), which may be distinguishing for palmitic acid methyl ester (m/z 279), although palmitic acid methyl ester was not synthesized in this study.



Figure 34. Chromatogram of the saponified and TMSD-treated hexane extract of phosphatidylcholine and mass spectrum of the 6.85-min eluting species.

In another experiment, the fatty acids that were esterified in egg yolk were saponified in potassium hydroxide, and the resultant fatty acids were then esterified with TMSD and resolved and identified by GC-MS. The chromatogram of the broadly eluting peak and the mass spectrum are shown in Figure 35. The mass spectrum at the peak of the chromatogram was complex and does not have ions that distinguish any of the fatty acids.



Figure 35. The chromatogram (above) and mass spectrum (below) of a sample of egg yolk that was saponified and treated with TMSD to identify hexane-extracted fatty acids.

Finally, fish oil capsules were treated with potassium hydroxide to liberate the esterified fatty acids, and the sample was treated with TMSD to make fatty acid methyl esters. The chromatogram and the mass spectrum of the broadly eluting peak centered around 7.0 min are

shown in Figure 36. The mass spectrum at the peak of the chromatogram was complex and does not have ions that distinguish any of the fatty acids.



Figure 36. Chromatogram and mass spectrum of 6.9-min eluting species after saponification of hexane-extractable fatty acids in fish oil and treatment with TMSD

#### 3.6 Attempts to identify prostaglandins in media containing cultured cells

It is known that interleukin1 $\beta$  (IL1 $\beta$ ) induces the secretion of PGE<sub>2</sub> from a wellcharacterized alveolar cell line (A549), so the media in which this cell line was incubated was used to determine the chemical synthesis scheme including the novel TMSD reagent could be used to identify a PGE<sub>2</sub> derivative in the media of cells treated for 0, 6, or 12 hours with IL1 $\beta$ . A prostaglandin fraction was obtained following hexane extraction and purification on a silica column, after which the sample was treated with TMSD to form the methyl ester, the methyl oxime, and BSTFA as per the PGE<sub>2</sub> and PGF<sub>2 $\alpha$ </sub> standards.



Figure 37. Chromatogram of media containing A549 cells purified on C18 column and treated with reagents for preparation of the PGE<sub>2</sub> derivative. Cells were treated with interleukin1β for 0 (top), 6 (middle), or 12 hr (bottom).Mass spectrum of 6 hrs treated A549 cells

The chromatograms for all the time periods had a prominent peak in the region where  $PGE_2$  and  $PGF_{2\alpha}$  standards elute are shown in Figure 39. Unfortunately, the mass spectrum was complex and was not distinguishing for  $PGE_2$  or  $PGF_{2\alpha}$ .



Figure 38. Chromatogram of treated 9 HTE cells with IL-1 $\beta$  at an elution time of 7.00 mins for 0 hrs, 6 hrs and 12 hrs

The chromatograms for the defined time periods had a prominent peak in the region where the PGE<sub>2</sub> and PGF<sub>2 $\alpha$ </sub> standards elute are shown in Figure 41. Unfortunately, the mass spectrum was complex and was not distinguishing for PGE<sub>2</sub> or PGF<sub>2</sub>  $\alpha$  (data not shown).

# 3.7 Attempts to identify prostaglandins in reactions of cyclooxygenase-1 with arachidonic acid

The metabolism of arachidonic acid by cyclooxygenase-1 is known to yield PGE<sub>2</sub>, which is a decomposition product of PGH<sub>2</sub>, the product of the reaction with the enzyme. An attempt was made to determine whether PGE<sub>2</sub> could be identified in the reaction mixture after incubation of arachidonic acid with the cyclooxygenase. The chromatogram for the reaction mixture that was treated with TMSD to make the methyl ester, methyl oxime to modify the carbonyl group, and the silylation of the alcohol groups is shown in Figure 40. A lipid specific fraction was obtained by using a C18 column for purification. A single peak in the chromatogram that occurs with the same retention time as for PGE<sub>2</sub> is observed, and the mass spectrum of the species at the peak of the chromatogram did match that of the purified PGE<sub>2</sub> derivative standard as shown in Figure 31. The ions with m/z of 513 and 456 that are distinguishing for PGE<sub>2</sub> (and PGF<sub>2α</sub> for that matter) are found in the mass spectrum.



Figure 39. Chromatogram and mass spectrum of enzyme substrate reaction of cyclooxygenase-.1 and arachidonic acid

### DISCUSSION

Diazomethane has been long considered as a common methylation agent for derivatisation of mainly the carboxyl groups. However it has some major drawbacks, common among them are concerned with its preparation which is time-consuming and complicated. The precursors used in the preparation of Diazomethane are potent mutagens including diazomethane itself which is carcinogenic and explosive. Hence Trimethyl Silyl Diazomethane was proposed as a potential alternative to Diazomethane( Ref: Martina Preu).

Trimethyl\_silyl\_diazomethane (TMSD) was originally used with methanol as the methylating reagent in the preparation of drugs, organic compounds, and some fatty acids (39). TMSD is stable, and so it does not need to be prepared from a precursor compound, is less hazardous, and provides an excellent yield at room temperature and thus does not require heat for efficient catalysis (40).

The advantages of TMSD as the methylation agent as compared to all the previous methods available is that it can be efficiently applied to analytical work by gas chromatography and mass spectrometry.

Initial experiments were conducted to determine whether the benzene used as the cosolvent during methyl esterification of arachidonic acid with methanol could be substituted with other solvents like chloroform, or acetone. The use of benzene-methanol as the solvent system was developed as an alternative method to those involving chloroform-methanol (82). In addition, the work presented here demonstrates that remarkably good results are obtained with acetone-methanol as the solvent system (83). The acetone-methanol system was used to promote

extraction of a lipid fraction, which was visualized by thin layer chromatography (84). Other work demonstrated the use of 20% methanol-acetone as the solvent system in isolation of a lipid fraction as revealed by thin layer chromatography (85). The widespread use of acetone-methanol in solubilizing and derivatizing lipids was a main factor that influenced its use in the present study. In the work presented here, a number of solvents were evaluated for use in the TMSD reaction, and all of them provided marginal-to-acceptable linearity in support of the calibration curve for arachidonic acid methyl ester. However, acetone has a relatively low toxicity and provided superior linearity over a four-fold range.

The formation of the methyl ester of each of the polyunsaturated fatty acids tested yielded a molecule with the expected molecular ions for arachidonic acid methyl ester (m/z 319), eicosapentanoic acid methyl ester (m/z 319), docosahexanoic acid methyl ester (m/z 343), oleic acid methyl ester (m/z 297), and heptadecanoic acid methyl ester (m/z 285), which was subsequently used as the internal standard to develop the calibration curves for the polyunsaturated fatty acids. The methyl ester for all of these compounds was confirmed by thin layer chromatography, and confirmation by GC/MS analysis of the prepared fatty acid methyl esters. The calibration curves for the PUFAs, AA, EPA, and DHA were linear over about a fourto five-fold range. These results extend the previously reported results to include PUFA of greater molecular weights than fatty acids containing more than 20 carbon atoms. For fatty acids with conjugated double bonds have attracted great interest because of their reported potent bioactivity. It has been seen interestingly in our experiments that as the number of double bonds increased the consumption of methylation agent increased accordingly. Hence the optimum level of TMSD required for maximal conversion of linoleic acid with two double

bonds was 60  $\mu$ Ls, for  $\alpha$  and  $\gamma$ - linolenic acid with three double bonds is 70  $\mu$ Ls, for arachidonic acid with four double bonds is 100  $\mu$ Ls, for eicosapentaenoic acid with – double bonds 150  $\mu$ Ls, and docoahexaenoic acid with double bonds 300 µLs. Interestingly as predicted heptadecanoic acid, which is a saturated fatty acid consumed 40 µLs of TMSD for full conversion. The synthesis of the prostaglandins was a bit more complex and involved methoximation ( $PGE_2$ ) and/or silvlation of alcohol groups (PGE<sub>2</sub> and PGF<sub>2 $\alpha$ </sub>) and methyl esterification using the TMSD reaction. The mass spectrum obtained following fragmentation under chemical ionization conditions gave no evidence of the expected value for the molecular ion (m/z 538). The calibration curve for PGE<sub>2</sub> was linear over a 90-fold range, with the lowest concentration evaluated at 10 pg/mL. Future experiments to find conditions to limit fragmentation will be used to characterize the PGE<sub>2</sub>-derivative and the deuterated PGE<sub>2</sub> standard, which did not provide a substantial peak in the chromatogram. The calibration curve for the PGE<sub>2</sub> and PGF<sub>2 $\alpha$ </sub> compounds showed linearity over a wide concentration range, although a better characterization of the mass spectral properties of these compounds and those of the deuterated standards is required to obtain a useful calibration curve for quantitation.

In the present study, several attempts were made to determine whether TMSD could be used in an assay to detect fatty acids in biological samples. Saponification of the phospholipids, phosphatidyl choline or phosphatidyl ethanolamine, and subsequent hexane extraction were required prior to analysis of the palmitic acid and arachidonic acids that were contained in the phospholipids. The hexane extractions that were subjected to treatment with the TMSD reagent gave a single peak in the chromatogram. This single peak would suggest that palmitic acid is present in the phospholipid as expected. Unfortunately, palmitic acid was not characterized and so its presence in the phospholipid could not be confirmed. Moreover, the column conditions for

detection of the fatty acid methyl esters were different from those earlier used for the standards, and hence, the retention times could not be appropriately compared.

Experiments to identify PUFA in biological samples were performed with egg yolk and fish oil capsules, which also first involved a saponification of the sample to release esterified fatty acids prior to methyl esterification with TMSD in methanol-acetone. The chromatogram of the sample was broad, and the mass spectrum at the apex of the peak revealed a complex spectrum that did not allow characterization of the constituent fatty acids. Thus, much more work needs to be done to more effectively identify these and/or other fatty acids in these biological samples.

Attempts were also made to determine whether prostaglandins could be identified in biological samples. The results obtained with a very well characterized alveolar cell line (A549) did indicate that a peak in the chromatogram with a retention time of about 7.2 min was observed in the media containing native or interleukin1 $\beta$ -treated cells. Interleukin 1 $\beta$  stimulates the production of PGE<sub>2</sub> in this cell line. Unfortunately, the chromatography is not good enough to distinguish either of these prostaglandins in the cell culture media. On the other hand, the results obtained with cyclooxygenase reaction with arachidonic acid gave the expected product, PGE<sub>2</sub>.

In summary, these experiments extend the number of polyunsaturated fatty acids that can be evaluated in the TMSD-catalyzed reaction to those containing up to 22 carbon atoms, and also to the class of eicosanoids known as the prostaglandins. The TMSD reaction is supported in acetone, which is as effective as the considerably more toxic benzene solvent that was previously used. Finally, the data suggest that it might be possible to identify fatty acids and prostaglandins in biological reactions, although considerably more work will need to be done under the same conditions for standards and for samples so that it is possible to make conclusions as to whether

these compounds can be identified in biological samples. Finally, if chromatographic resolution of the compounds cannot be achieved, selected ion monitoring or MS/MS methods may have to be employed to identify and quantify the prostaglandins in biological samples. The application of this procedure in biological systems detecting very minute amounts of prostaglandins increases the applicability of this process in detecting prostaglandin like products, in biological samples. This method can be extended for derivatizing thromboxanes and Leukotrienes. Hence this method can be of importance in detecting fatty acids and their oxidation products in the field of clinical chemistry.
## REFERENCES

- Jump, DB,; Clarke, SD.; Thelen, A. *et al.*(1996) Dietary polyunsaturated fatty acid regulation of gene transcription. *Prog Lipid Res*, **35**, 227-241
- 2. Gorski, J.; Zendzain-Piotrowska, M.; de Jong, YF, et al.(1999) Effect of endurance training on the phospholipid content of skeletal muscles in the rat. Eur *J Appl Physiol*, **79**, 421-425
- 3. Kris –Etherton, P.; Daniels, SR.; Eckel, RH *et al.* (2001) Summary of scientific conference on dietary fatty acids and cardiovascular health. *Circulation*, **103**, 1034-1039
- 4. Brox, JH.; Baker, RK.; Schonfeld, G. (1979) Increased *in vivo* and *in vitro* platelet function in type II- and type IV- hypoproteinemia. *Thromb Res*, **15**, 95-108
- Vessby, B.; Tengblad, S.; Lithell, H. (1994) Insulin sensitivity is related to the fatty acid composition of serum lipids and skeletal muscle phospholipids in 70–year-old men. *Diabetologia*, 37, 1044-1050
- 6. Shapiro, AC.; Wu, D.; Meydani, SN. (1993) Eicosanoids derived from arachidonic and eicosapentaenoic acids inhibit T cell proliferative response. *Prostaglandins*, **45**, 229-240
- Neuringer, A.; Anderson, GJ.; Connor, WE.(1988) The essentiality of n-3 fatty acidS for the development and function of the retina and brain. *Ann Rev Nutr*, 8, 517-541
- Simopoulos, AP.;(1989) Executive Summary. In: Dietary omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acids: Biological effects and Nutritional Essentaility Series: Life Sciences, C Galli and AP Simopoulos, eds, New York: Plenum –Press, 171, 391-402
- 9. Simopoulos, AP. (1986) Health Effects of Polyunsaturated fatty Acids in Seafoods. *Kifer RR, Martin RE, eds. Orlando, FL: Academic Press.*

- Adam, O. (1989) Linoleic and Linolenic Acids Intake. In: Dietary omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acids: *Biological effects and Nutritional Essentiality. Series A: Life Sciences.* C Galli and AP Simopoulos, eds. **171**, 391-402
- Hughes, CL.; Dhiman, TR. (2002) Dietary compounds in relation to dietary diversity and human health. *J Med Food*, 5(2), 51-68
- Holman, RT. (1998) The slow discovery of the importance of omega-3 essential fatty acids in human health. *J Nutr*, **128**, 427S-433S
- Sprecher, H.; Luthria, DL.; Mohammed, BS. *et al.*(1995) Reevaluation of the pathways for the biosynthesis of polyunsaturated fatty acids. *J Lipid Res*, 36(12), 2471-2477
- Sprecher, H.; Chen, Q.; Yin, FQ.(1999) Regulation of the biosynthesis of 22:5n-6 and
   22:6n-3: a complex intracellular process. *Lipids*, 34, S153-S156
- DuBois, RN.; Agramson, SB, Crofford, L. *et al.*(1998) Cyclooxygenase in biology and Disease. *FASEB J*, **12**, 1063-1073
- Smith, WL.; Garaviti, M.; DeWitt, DL.(1996) Prostaglandin Endoperoxide H, Synthase (Cyclooxygenase)-1 and -2. *J Biol Chem*, 271(52), 331576-33160
- Kaminska, J.; Nalecz, KA.; Azzi, A. *et al.*(1993) Purification of carnitine carrier from rat brain mitochondria. *Biochem Mol Biol Int*, **29**, 999-1007
- Infante, JP. (1986) Vitamin E and selenium participation in fatty acid desaturation. A proposal for an enzymatic function of these nutrients. *Mol Cell Biochem*, 69(2), 93-108
- Infante, JP.; Huszagh, VA.(1997) On the molecular etiology of decreased arachidonic (20:4n-6), docosapentaenoic (22:5n-6) and docosahexaenoic (22:6n-3) acids in Zellweger syndrome and other perioxisomal disorders. *Mol Cell Biochem*, 168, 101-115

- 20. Mohrhauer, H.; Christiansen, K.; Gan, MV. *et al.*(1967) Chain elongation of linoleic acid and its inhibition by other fatty acids *in vitro*. *J Biol Chem*, **242**, 4507-4517
- Jump, DB.; Clarke, SD. (1999) Regulation of gene expression by dietary fat. *Annu Rev Nutr*, **19**, 63-90
- 22. Lauritzen, L.; Hansen, HS.; Jorgensen, MH, *et al.*(2001) The essentiality of long chain n-3 fatty acids in relation to development and function of the brain and retina. *Prog Lipid Res*, 40, 1-94
- Tai, H.; Miyaura, C.; Pilbeam, CC. *et al.* (1997) Transcriptional induction of cyclooxygenase-2 in osteoblasts is involved in interleukin-6- induced osteoclast formation. *Endocrinology*, **138(6)**, 2372-2379
- Porter, NA.; Caldwell, SE.; Mills, KA.(1995) Mechanisms of free radical oxidation of unsaturated lipids. *Lipids*, **30**(4), 277-290
- Capdevila, JH.; Falck, JR., Harris, RC.(2000) Cytochrome P450 and arachidonic acid bioactivation. Molecular and functional properties of the archidonate monooxygenase. J Lipid Res, 41(2), 163-181
- Serhan, CN.; Oliw, E.(2001) Unorthodox routes to prostanoid formation: new twists in cyclo-oxygenase-initiated pathways. *J Clin Invest*, **107(12)**, 1481-1489
- 27. Christie, W.W. (1993) in *Advances in Lipid Methodology Two*, 69-111 (ed. W.W. Christie, The Oily Press, Dundee)
- 28. Hofmann, U.; Holzer, S.; and Meese, C.O. (1990) J. Chromatogr., 508, 349-356
- 29. Hintze,U.;Roper,H.;Gercken,G., (1973) J. Chromatogr., 87, 481-489
- 30. Klem, H.-P.; Hintze, U.; Gercken, G., (1973). J. Chromatogr., 75, 19-27

- American Oil Chemists' Society,( (1973) Official and Tentative Methods of the American Oil Chemists' Society, 3rd Edition, Champaign, IL., Method Ce 2-66).
- 32. Hadorn, H.; Zuercher, K.; Mitt. Lebens-mittelunters. (1967) Hyg., 58, 236-258
- 33. Morrison, W.R.; Lawrie, T.D.V.; Blades, J.(1961) Chem. Ind. (London), 1534-1535
- 34. Schlenk, H.; Gellerman, J.L. (1960) Anal. Chem., 32, 1412-1414
- 35. Crotte, C.; Mule, A.; Planche, N.E., (1970) Bull. Soc. Chim. Biol., 52, 108-109
- 36. Levitt, M.J. (1973). Anal. Chem., 45, 618-620
- Najibullah, S.; Martin, P.; Yurawecz, J.A.G.;Roach, M.M. Mossoba, J.K.G. Kramer.; Youh Ku.Silver.(1998) Ion High Performance Liquid Chromatographic Separation and Identification of Conjugated Linoleic Acid Isomers. *Lipids*, 33(2), 217-221
- Schweer, H.; Kammer, J.; Seyberth H.W.(1985) Simultaneous determination of prostanoids in plasma by gas chromatography- negative chemical ionization mass spectrometry. *Journal of chromatography*, 338, 273-280
- Seyferth,D.; Menzel,H.; Dow, AW.; and Flood, T.C.(1972)" Trimethylsilyl-DiazoalkanesI.
   Trimethylsilyldiazomethane,", *Journal of Organomettalic Chemistry substituted*, 44, p 279-290
- 40. Yokota *et al.* (1981) "New methods and reagents in organic synthesis. A simple efficient preparation of methyl esters with trimethylsilyl diazomethane(TMSCHN2) and its application to gas chromatographic analysis of fatty acids," *Chem. Pharm Bull.*, 29(5), 1475-1478
- 41. Chevreul, M.E.; (1808) Expériences chimiques sur le bois de Brésil et de Campèche;
  Extrait d'un travail sur les matières colorantes. *Ann Chim* 66, 225-265

- 42. Die gewicht sanalytische Bestimmung des Milch fettes;(1879) *Dingler's polytechnisches J*,
  232, 461
- 43. Bloor, WR.(1914) J Biol Chem, 17, 377
- 44. Andersson RJ,(1927) J Biol Chem 74, 525
- 45. Bornmann, J.H. (1931) Assoc. of Agric. Chem, 14, 489
- Zahler, P.; Niggli V. (1977) In Methods in Membrane Biology, 8, 1-50 (edited by E.D. Korn, Plenum Press, New York).
- Mateos, R.; Bravo, L. Chromatographic and Electrophoretic Methods for the Analysis of Biomarkers of Oxidative damage to Macromolecules (DNA, Lipids & Proteins) *Journal of Separation Science*, 30:2, 175-191
- Bartz,R.; Li, Wen-Hong.; Venables, B et al. (2007) Lipidomics reveals that adiposomes store ether lipids and mediate phospholipids traffic. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 48, 837-847
- 49. Garcia- Crucet, S.; Carpenter K.L.H.; Guardiola, F.( 2001), Oxysterol profiles of normal human arteries, fatty straks and advanced lesions., *Free Radical Research*, **35:1**, 31-41
- Borgeat, P.; Samuelsson, B. (1979) Metabolism of Arachidonic Acid in Polymorphonuclear Leukocytes.: Structural Analysis Of Novel Hydroxylated Compounds. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 254(16),7865-7869
- Fischer S. (1989) How should we measure n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and their metabolites in humans? *J Intern Med Suppl.* 731,21-24
- Romero,N.; Robert, P.; Mason,L.; Luck,C.; Buschmann,L.(1996) Fatty acid composition and cholesterol content in naturally canned jurel, sardine, salmon,and tuna. *Arch latinoam Nutr.* 46(1),75-77

- Devor KA, Mudd JB.(1971)Structural analysis of phosphtidyl choline of plant tissue. J Lipid Res.12(4),396-402.
- Bondia, E.M.; Castellote, A.L.; Lopez, M.C.; Rivero, M. (1994) Determination of plasma fatty acid composition in neonates by gas chromatography. *J Chromatogr B Biomed Appl*, 19:658(2), 369-74
- 55. Hamberg, M.; Samuelson, B.(1974) Prostaglandin Endoperoxides. Novel Transformation of Arachidonic Acid in Human Platelets. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **71:9**, 3400-3404
- 56. Knott, I. Raes, M. et al. (1993).Routine Prostaglandin Assay by GC-MS in Multiwell Tissue culture plates: Application to Human Synviocytes and Chondrocytes. *Analytical Biochemistry* 210, 360-365
- Green Krister. (1969) Gas- Chromatography- Mass Spectrometry of O-Methyloxime derivatives of Prostaglandins. *Chem. Phys. Lipids*, 3, 254-272
- Veinberg, G. A.; Petrulyanis, L.N.; Lukevits, Y.A.(1982) Silyl methods for the modification of penicillin and cephalosporin.*Chemistry of Heterocyclic compounds*, 18(2), 111-123
- Powell W.S.(1999) Rapid extraction of Arachidonicacid metabolites from biological samples using Octadecylsilyl silica.*Methods I enzymology*, 86, 467-476.
- Hanai,T.; Hashimoto,T.;Nishiwaki,K.; OnoM, AkamoY, TanakaM, Mizuno I, Yura,J
   (1993) Comparison of prostanoids and their precursor fatty acids in human
   hepatocellularcarcinoma and noncancerous reference tissues. *J Surg Res.* 54(1):57-60
- 61. Holden, NS.; Catley, MC.; Cambridge, LM.; Barnes, PJ.(2004) ICAM-1 expression is highly NF-κB- dependent in A549 cells- No role for ERK and p38 MAPK.Eur. J. Biochem, 271, 785-791

- Wang, A.C.C.; Dai, Wang, X.; Luu bao.; Conrad, D.J.(2001) Peroxisome Activated
   Receptor-γ regulates airway epithelial cell activation. *Am J, Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.*, 24, 688-693
- Ulberth, F.; Henninger, M. On-column injection of fatty acid methyl esters on to polar capillary columns without distortion of early eluting peaks. *J. of High Resolution Chromatography*, 15:1, 54-56
- 64. Thomas, Craig E.; Ku George; and Kalyanaraman B.(1994) Nitrone spin trap lipophilicity as a determinant for inhibition of low density lipoprotein oxidation and activation of interleukin-1β release from human monocytes.*Journal of Lipid Research*, **35**, 610-619
- Capevilla J, Marnett LJ, Chacos N, Prough RA, Estabrook RW. (1982) Cytotochrome P-450 dependent oxygenation of arachidonic acid to hydroxyicosa tetraenoic acids. *Proc natl Acad Sci* USA **79(3)** 767-70
- 66. Marnett, Lawrenne J.; Rowlinson Scott W.; Goodwin Douglas C.; Klgutkar, Amit S.; Lnzo,
  C. A. (1999) Arachidonic Acid Oxygenation by COX-1 and COX-2.*The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274(33) 22903-22906.
- Dwyer, K.P.; Barett, H.R.; Chan, D.; Foo, J.I.; Watts, G.F., Croft, K.D.(2002) Oxazolinone derivative of leucine for GC-MS: a sensitive and robust method for stable isotope kinetic studies of lipoproteins, Journal of Lipid Research, 43(2): 344 - 349.
- Saha, S.; Dutta, J.(1973) Preparation of fatty acid methyl esters from triglycerides on thin layer plates. *Lipids*, 8:11, 653-655
- Damyanova, B.N.; Momchilov, Sv.(2001) Silver Ion Thin Layer Chromatography of Fatty Acids. A Survey. *J.of Liquid Chromatography and Related Technologies*, 24:10, 1447-1466

- Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry(1983). Determination of Fatty Acid Methyl Ester and Triglycerides in Diesel Fuels
- 71. Hamberg, M.; Samuelson, B.(1974) Prostaglandin Endoperoxides. Novel
  Transformation of Arachidonic Acid in Human Platelets. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 71:9, 3400-3404
- Yin, Huiyong.; Musiek, E.S.; Gao, Ling. Porter, N.A.; Morrow, J.D. Regiochemistry of Neuroprostanes generated from the peroxidaytion of Docosahexaenoic acid in vitro and in vivo. *J. Biol. Chem*, 280:28, 26600-26111.
- 73. Emken,E.;Adlof,R.O.; Duval, S.M.; Nelson,GJ.(1999)Effect of dietary docosahexaenoic acid on desaturation and uptake in vivo of isotope labeled oleic, linoleic, and linolenic acids by male subjects. *Lipids*. 34(8),85-91
- Perez, JMH.; Cabre, E.; Fluvia, L.et al. (2002) Improved method for Gas
   Chromatographic Mass Spectrometric analysis of 1- <sup>13</sup> C labeled chain fatty acids in plasma samples. *Clinical Chemistry*, 48, 906-912
- 75. Maulik,N.; Bagchi,D.; Ihm,W.J.; Cordis,G.A..; Das, D.K. (1995)Fatty Acid Profiles of plasmalogen choline and ehanolamine glyrophospholipids in pig and rat hearts. *J Pharm Biomed Anal.* 1491(2),49-56
- Zahler P, and Niggli V. (1977) In Methods in Membrane Biology, 8, 1- 50 (edited by E.D. Korn, Plenum Press, New York).
- Bahafi,S.; Al-Hrithy, R.N.; Mnsouri R.A.( (2005), Estimation of Gas chromatographic analysis of the ratio ofoega -6 to omega-3 fatty acids in blood serum. *Bioscienes technology Research Asia*, **39(1)**, 1-8

- Schreiner, M.; Moreira, R.G.; Hulan, H.W. Positional distribution of fatty acids In egg yolk lipids. *Journal of Food Lipids*, 13:1, 36-56
- Burns, P.C.; Halabi, S.; Clamon, G.H. et al. Phase I clinical study of fish oil fatty acid capsules for patients with cancer cachexia and leukemia group B study 9473. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 5, 3942-3947
- Mori,T.A.; Croft,K.D;. Puddey,B.; Beilin L.J.(1999) An improved Method For The Measurement Of Urinary and Plasma F2-Isoprostanes Using Gas Chromatography- Mass Spectrometry.*Biochemistry*, 268, 117-125
- Hecker, M.; Ullrich, Volker.; Fischer, Christine.; Messe. C.O. (1987) Identification of novel arachidonic acid metabolites formed by prostaglandin H synthase. *Eur. J. Biochem*,169, 113-123
- 82. Khan, A.A.; Hess, H.H. (1971) Fluorescent lipids of bovine brain white matter. Lipids, 6:9
- 83. Vance, D.E.; Sweeley C.C., (1967) Quantitative determination of the neutral glycosyl ceramides in human blood.. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 621-630
- 84. Steiner, E.H.; Bonar, A.R. Separation of some glycerides of cocoa- butter by paper chromatography, *Journal of Science of Food and Agriculture*, **12:B**, 247-250
- Schroepfer, Jr.;George, J.; Josef, E.; Swaminathan, Shankar.; Wilson, WilliamK. Side chain derivatized 15- oxygenated sterols, method of using them and a process of preparing them. US patent 5,371,077, 1994.